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May 21, 2024 

 

Board of Zoning Appeals 

City of Cambridge 

831 Massachusetts Avenue 

Cambridge, MA 02139 

 

 RE: 378 Rindge Avenue 

  Application for Variances for Dover Amendment Use 

  Applicant and Owner:  Al-Amin, Inc. 

 

Dear Cambridge Board of Zoning Appeals: 

 

I represent Al-Amin, Inc., which is the Applicant and Owner of the property known as 378 

Rindge Avenue (the “Property”).  The Property is currently a two-unit condominium which Applicant 

intends to change from being a condominium into being a non-condominium building with a mosque 

use, should the requested relief be granted. 

 

The Property is located in the Residence C-1A and MXR zoning districts. 

 

Applicant seeks to construct additions, being a third floor addition, front northeast corner 

addition and rear addition.  Such alterations of this pre-existing, nonconforming structure create the need 

for variances for Gross Floor Area, Floor to Area Ratio, Open Space and Alteration of a Nonconforming 

Structure. 

 

The mosque requires relief to practice its Dover Amendment-Protected religious use. Alterations 

and additions to the existing building are required to make the building accessible, and to allow for 

congregants to face both Mecca and the Imam during prayers. The current building has corners which 

prevent congregants from seeing the Imam while also facing East when praying. The third floor is 

needed for Arabic studies and overflow space for congregants during religious festivals. Minarets and a 

dome are also part of the religious purpose of the structure. The variances are required in order to 

alleviate these hardships and to allow for the religious use. 
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ANALYSIS 

 

The Proposed Use Is Protected by the Dover Amendment. 

 

 Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 40A, Section 3 is known as the “Dover Amendment”, 

which bars the adoption of a zoning ordinance or by-law that seeks to prohibit or restrict the use of land 

for educational or religious purposes.  See Trustees of Tufts College v. City of Medford, 415 Mass. 753, 

616 N.E.2d 433 (1993). 

 

The Dover Amendment may permit dimensional nonconformity of the Premises under certain 

circumstances.  While the Dover Amendment provides that “…land or structures may be subject to 

reasonable regulations concerning the bulk and height of structures and determining yard sizes, lot areas, 

setbacks, open space, parking and building coverage requirements…”, courts have concluded that 

dimensional zoning regulations may not be applied in such a way as to prevent a protected Dover 

Amendment use.  Dimensional zoning regulations will apply to protected Dover Amendment uses only to 

the extent that they are reasonable under the circumstances.  A determination of the reasonableness of any 

given zoning restriction requires an analysis of whether the restriction would “unreasonably impede the 

protected use without appreciably advancing critical municipal goals”.  See Martin v. Corporation of the 

Presiding Bishop of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 434 Mass. 141, 747 N.E.2d 131 

(2001), citing Trustees of Tufts College.  In considering the reasonableness of a restriction in the context 

of a Dover Amendment use, courts will consider the “special characteristics of the [exempt] use.”  Ibid. 

 

As such, a municipality may not, through the guise of regulating bulk and dimensional 

requirements, proceed to nullify the use exemption permitted to a protected institution. See The Bible 

Speaks v. Board of Appeals of Lenox, 8 Mass. App. Ct. 19, 391 N.E.2d 279 (1979).  The protected 

institution may show unreasonableness of a restriction by demonstrating that compliance would 

substantially diminish or detract from the usefulness of the proposed structure, or impair the character of 

the institution’s campus, without appreciably advancing the municipality’s legitimate concerns, or by 

establishing excessive cost of compliance with the requirement, without significant gain in terms of 

municipal concerns.  See Trustees of Tufts College.   

 

In an analogous case, the rigid application of a zoning bylaw’s height restrictions to a church’s 

steeple was found to impair the character of the church without advancing any municipal concern. See 

Martin.  “The Dover Amendment directs the inquiry to the use of “land” or a “structure,” not the use of 

an element or part of a structure…The focus must be placed on the use of the structure…To view each 

element, each section of a “structure,” as requiring an independent “religious” use leads to impossible 

results: Is a church kitchen or a church parking lot a “religious” use? We have not formulated the test so 

narrowly. While the judge's inquiry may have focused on the steeple because the temple complied in all 

other respects with Belmont's zoning bylaws, the question under the statute is whether the structure as a 

whole is to be used for religious purposes.  It clearly is, and just as clearly the Dover Amendment applies. 

It is not for judges to determine whether the inclusion of a particular architectural feature is “necessary” 

for a particular religion.  A rose window at Notre Dame Cathedral, a balcony at St. Peters Basilica--are 

judges to decide whether these architectural elements are “necessary” to the faith served by those 

buildings?  The judge found, as she was compelled to do in the face of overwhelming and uncontradicted 

testimony, that temples “are the places where Mormons conduct their sacred ceremonies.” No further 

inquiry as to the applicability of the Dover Amendment was warranted.”  See Martin. 
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While the reasonableness of a local zoning requirement will depend on the particular facts of 

each case, a judge should consider whether the requirement sought to be applied takes into account “the 

special characteristics of [the exempt] use,” adding that a zoning requirement that results “in something 

less than nullification of a proposed [exempt] use may be unreasonable within the meaning of the Dover 

Amendment.”  See Martin; see also Trustees of Tufts College. 

 

 In this Application, the mosque use requires the additions to the existing structure in order to 

fulfill its religious purpose by allowing congregants to gather and pray while facing East and seeing the 

Imam who is leading the prayers.  The additions also allow for accessibility to the mosque, for overflow 

congregant space at festivals, for Arabic study space and for there to be minarets and a dome.  The 

mosque’s location near public transit and housing where a number of the congregants live is important, 

as well, such that the Applicant can build the proposed additions and alterations at this location in 

furtherance of its protected religious purpose.  There is no compelling municipal interest in denying the 

relief being sought when weighed against its negative impact on the protected religious practice. 

 

 As such, the religious use of the Property as a mosque is a Dover Amendment protected use, and 

the relief being sought should be granted. 

 

The Proposed Use Is Protected by the RLUIPA. 

 

The federal Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act (RLUIPA), 42 U.S.C. §§2000cc-

2000cc-5 (2006), bars governments from imposing a substantial burden on the religious exercise of a 

person, including a religious assembly or institution, unless the government demonstrates that imposition 

of the burden on that person, assembly or institution (1) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental 

interest, and (2) is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling governmental interest. See 

Mintz v. Roman Catholic Bishop of Springfield, 424 F.Supp.2d 309 (2006), stating that the application of 

a zoning bylaw’s density, setback and parking restrictions imposed a “substantial burden” on “religious 

exercise” in the case of an application for a permit to construct a parish center.  Zoning bylaw restrictions 

were not the least restrictive means of furthering compelling government interest and thus did not survive 

preemption under RLUIPA.  See Mintz. 

 

 Again, the religious use of the Property as a mosque is protected, and the relief being sought 

should be granted 

 

Conclusion. 

 

 Therefore, as strict compliance with the terms of the Cambridge Zoning Ordinance will 

substantially burden, diminish and detract from the protected religious purpose of the Applicant and its 

use of the Property, the variances sought must be granted under the Dover Amendment and the 

RLUIPA. 

 

 Applicant also notes that it meets the requirements for the relief sought under the Cambridge 

Zoning Ordinance even without the protection of the Dover Amendment and the RLUIPA, as described 

in the application for relief filed herewith. 
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Very truly yours, 

 

 

 

 

Adam Dash 
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June 7, 2024  

 

Dear Members of the Licensing Board and Inspectional Services,  

We are writing to support the construction of the Islamic Center of Rindge Avenue (ICRA) 

located at 378 Rindge Ave. Currently, the mosque is in a small house that does not resemble a 

traditional mosque. 

ICRA has been a vital part of the community since 1997. It serves as a place of worship where 

hundreds of people come to pray five times a day. On Fridays, for the holy prayer, Jummah, 

hundreds of people attend the service. Many patrons live in the Fresh Pond Apartments and find 

the mosque a staple within their community. ICRA is more than just a place of worship; it is a 

center for community, social services, and activism. 

ICRA serves the community in many ways including holiday celebrations and educational 

opportunities. ICRA hosts two prayers for Eid al-Fitr and Eid al-Adha each year, bringing 

hundreds of people together. It’s a joy to see everyone and their families in new outfits 

embracing one another. Organizers often have to hold these prayers at Russell Field to 

accommodate the large Muslim community within Cambridge. The events are not just limited to 

the Muslim community and are open to everyone. As City Councillors, we have also attended 

these events and use this as an opportunity to connect with our residents, hear their concerns, and 

refer them to resources. ICRA also has an education center that teaches children Arabic. 

It is important that the building resembles a mosque to serve as a clear and inspiring symbol 

within the community. A mosque is not just a building; it is a beacon of faith, unity, and cultural 

heritage. The current structure, which looks like a small house on Rindge Ave, needs renovations 

to reflect its true purpose and significance. 

Having a mosque that looks like a mosque enhances its role as a community landmark, 

promoting a sense of belonging and pride among the local Muslim population. It also educates 

and informs the broader community about the presence and contributions of their Muslim 

neighbors, fostering understanding and inclusivity. 

ssiddiqui@cambridgema.gov 
Phone: 617-349-7237 

  



Thank you for considering the importance of this project and for supporting the diverse needs of 

our community. 

Sincerely,  

      

 

 

Councillor Sumbul Siddiqui Councillor Jivan Sobrinho-Wheeler Councillor Ayesha M. Wilson 
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